
2019 SENATE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE 
 

SB 2231 

 

  



2019 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Human Services Committee 
Red River Room, State Capitol 

SB 2231 
1/21/2019 

Job # 31097 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk: Justin Velez 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to pharmacists limited prescriptive practices. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments #1-2 

 
Madam Chair Lee: Opens hearing on SB 2231.  
 
(00:00-01:35) Nicole Poolman, ND State Senator from District 7. Introduces SB 2231 and 
testifying in favor of SB 2231. Please see Attachment #1 for testimony.  
 
(1:45-04:33) Mark J. Hardy, PharmD, Executive Director of the North Dakota State 
Board of Pharmacy. Testifying in favor of SB 2231. Please see Attachment #2 for 
testimony.  
 
Senator Anderson: Your testimony talks about streamlining the process for collaborative 
agreements, when Senator Poolman introduced the bill she talked about instances where 
one board would approve and one wouldn’t. Can you speak a little bit to how often that’s 
happened and if that a significant part of this effort?  
 
Mark J. Hardy: There's tradition use, where most of the collaborative agreements function 
through hospitals. Two sessions ago legislature allowed expand and authority on those 
agreements to really expand those out to any pharmacists that wants to enter into an 
agreement with practitioner. Frankly, it’s been a little slow to materialize into what I think was 
many in the profession envisioned as far as how this would work but recently there's been 
some agreements that have been brought forward. Specifically, in a small rural community 
where the local pharmacists would like to function with the local medical director which I 
believe is the only physician on staff at the location to help ease some of the workload of that 
physician. Those agreements were put together on paper and sent to the pharmacy board 
and was approved then sent to the medical board where there were some concerns about 
the agreements.  
 
Senator Hogan: How many agreements are out there? 
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Mark J. Hardy: Currently we have 20 agreements around the state. I would say recently we 
probably brought forward more than our average which was probably 8 to 10 that were 
brought forward in the last 6 months probably.  
 
Senator Hogan: Why do you think there is an increase now and if this law passes will there 
be additional agreements? 
 
Mark J. Hardy: We hope so. I think there's a really good function for pharmacists especially 
now with the evolving education of pharmacists and them being trained in that manner and 
moving outside of the full dispensing realm and more into the patient care model. Hopefully, 
that will make them think outside of the box a little bit. From a payment aspect of it a business 
model needs to be developed and there's not really great uptake by third parties and 
payments in those things but, generally speaking that’s not a concern.  
 
Senator Anderson: Four years ago when we changed but if they are between the medical 
director and pharmacists in charge there may be quite a few physicians and pharmacists 
participating in that one agreement right? 
 
Mark J. Hardy: that would be correct yes.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Closes the hearing on SB 2231.  
 
 
 



2019 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Human Services Committee 
Red River Room, State Capitol 

SB 2231 
1/21/2019 

Job # 31121 
 

☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk: Justin Velez 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to pharmacists limited prescriptive practices. 
 

Minutes:                                                 No Attachments  

 
Madam Chair Lee: Opens discussion on SB 2231.  
 
Senator Anderson: The history of these collaborative agreements goes back to 1996 when 
I was executive of the pharmacy board and originally we had a joint committee that developed 
the rules for it and we met together and over the years I think both boards have become 
pretty comfortable with it. As Dr. Hardy mentioned we changed it here a while back to say 
that the collaborative agreement didn’t have to be between a pharmacist and a physician, 
which usually meant there were eight people in the hospital and eight pharmacists. I think 
that’s advanced. There really has only been one instance that I know of where the medical 
board was uncomfortable with what the physician in New Rockford wanted to do with the 
pharmacist. By large its been pretty well agreed upon most of the collaborative practice 
agreements. I think right now what we are seeing is when a practitioner and a pharmacists 
come up with these, by the time it goes to the medical board it’s sometime nine months before 
they can actually do anything. It’s probably time to transition that too and say let’s move on 
now, we are comfortable with each other. This doesn’t happen if a practitioner or a physician 
doesn’t want to do it. They make an agreement between themselves and they write down 
what the pharmacist authority and responsibility is and that to report back to the physician is 
already in the requirement so I think it’s time to move on.  
 
Senator Hogan: Is there a standard format or layout on how these collaborative agreements 
are written? 
 
Senator Anderson: Yes, we actually have an example/template that they can all use.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: So, is that a motion Senator Anderson. 
 
(03:36) Courtney Kobelle, Lobbyist: Not to interfere but I remember SB 2231 being held. I 
don’t have any position on this bill at all. I was talking to Bonnie Storbakken and told her you 
were discussing SB 2231 and she replied I was told it would be held. 
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Madam Chair Lee: Okay, then we will hold it open.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: I motion to table the vote until Wednesday.  
Senator Anderson Seconded that motion.  
 
VOICE VOTE TAKEN 
MOTION CARRIED  
 
Madam Chair Lee ends the discussion on SB 2231 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to pharmacists limited prescriptive practices. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments #1-4 

 
Madam Chair Lee opens the continuation hearing on SB 2231.  
 
(01:45-07:15) Mike Schwab, Executive Vice President of the North Dakota Pharmacists 
Association. Testifying in support of SB 2231. Please see Attachment #1 for testimony. 
Also please see Attachment #2 for absent testimony from NACDS (National Association 
of Chain Drug Stores).  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Any questions for Mr. Schwab? If not, thank you.  
 
(08:12-11:00) Jesse Rue, Pharmacist. Testifying in favor of SB 2231. Please see 
Attachment #3 for testimony.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Any questions for Mr. Rue? If not, thank you.  
 
(11:30-12:09) Bruce Murry, North Dakota Association of Community Providers. 
Testifying in support of SB 2231. Testimony is as follows.  
 
Bruce Murry: I am here representing providers who serve people with disabilities across the 
state. A lot of times we turn to our local pharmacists with whom we have strong relationships 
to provide us with expertise and as genuine health care providers. I would support this 
clarification and enhancement of the role of pharmacists who are often very good about 
making themselves available to our clientele.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Any questions for Mr. Murry? If not, thank you.  
 
(12:55-14:15) Bonnie Storbakken, Executive Secretary for the North Dakota Board of 
Medicine. Offering neutral testimony on SB 2231. Please see Attachment #4 for testimony.  
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Madam Chair Lee: I’m just looking at the influenza agreement, I mean they give flu shots at 
the grocery stores, tell me how that fits in.  
 
Bonnie Storbakken: If you look at the paragraph on influenza, what the contention was that 
they had with the influenza protocol was that, if there was a positive testing for influenza then 
it was an automatic treatment with the Tamiflu. There was concern from the board that, that 
wasn’t in line with what the CDC recommends. The CDC recommends that we treat high risk 
patients because we usually run out of Tamiflu. They had asked the folks at the meeting to 
go back and revise that protocol and come back. I will say that when you listen to previous 
testimony, the timeline that it takes; it is a very long time. There is one on the second part 
where one agreement was tabled to seek clarity, and our board wanted to make sure that is 
what they mean because we can’t make any amendments to an agreement, no one was 
there to answer the question so it had to go back. Then it puts it out until our March meeting 
or when we can get the clarification and we have another meeting scheduled. The timeline 
is extensive I don’t dispute that.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: I agree that you can’t alter the agreement in a unilateral fashion but it 
seems to me that the information about the rejection said with these kinds of changes we 
would be willing to accept it and that it was an agreed upon thing. When it went back to the 
pharmacists they said they could live with those. We shouldn’t have to go all the way back to 
you again just because now they typed a piece of paper instead of you.  
 
Bonnie Storbakken: I agree, it would be nice to have a process where it could be 
streamlined, if we say; we would like you to put these protocols in place of what you have 
and then just have them file it with us. The way that the law is written however, we have to 
have formal approval, so I don’t think that our board has thought outside of that box.   
 
Madam Chair Lee: Let’s think outside that box, especially since you’re an attorney you can 
see what types of amendments have to be drafted in order to make it work.   
 
Bonnie Storbakken: The way that the protocols were drafter for that one, anyone with a 
positive influenza would have gotten Tamiflu. There were some members on our board that 
said that isn’t what we do, we treat the high risk, and we follow the CDC list of who fits on 
that high risk and that is who we treat. Can you go back and make it more in line of what the 
CDC says and then we would be more inclined.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: If we need to see differences in statute to allow that kind of thing, I also 
think there has to be some provision in rules or in statute if that is not permitted, but to be 
able to have a recorded conference call and which some of those changes might be 
addressed because, these delays are creating some hardships in some areas and I know 
that you want these people served well.  
 
Bonnie Storbakken: Absolutely, we are actually meeting by conference call on Friday so, 
we do have the ability to call a conference call or an emergency meeting. We have done so 
on numerous occasions so I am happy to explore and look at different language. I don’t want 
to stand up and make a statement one way or another on behalf on my board but I am happy 
to help in any way that I can.  
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Madam Chair Lee: If you can put together the altered agreement, and not have anyone sign 
off on it yet but say; with these changes our board has agreed this particular protocol would 
be acceptable. Then it could go back to the pharmacists and they could say yes or no.  
 
Senator Hogan: On page 2, line 7 and 8, of the bill we talked about a collaborative 
agreement must be made available to the respective licensing boards, under this bill if you 
got that and had those concerns could you just express those to both parties of the 
agreement.  
 
Bonnie Storbakken: I don’t see why we wouldn’t. The change in that, is that we would be 
getting them after the fact. I think it was November 2017 were they had protocols for flu and 
strep as well and nobody was at the meeting to answer specific questions so we said to come 
back and they didn’t come back, later I was informed that the physician that had signed on 
earlier no longer wished to do so and was concerned about liability and board rules. It seems 
there should be a better process to be able to review and handle discussion.  
 
Senator Anderson: I was going to say about the same thing that Senator Hogan did is that 
your committee could still be active if your board committee had concerns they could address 
it with the physician that signed the agreement and talk about what his intentions were and 
so forth.  
 
Bonnie Storbakken: I think that’s what we would do if this passes.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Any further testimony for SB 2231? We will close the hearing on SB 
2231. 
 
Madam Chair Lee: I have motion in front of me made by Senator Anderson and 
Seconded by Senator O. Larsen, for a DO PASS.  
 
Senator O. Larsen: I feel very comfortable with the motion and appreciate the cementing of 
the information that we continued to hear so, it just continues to give more information as to 
why this piece of legislation is comfortable with me. I don’t feel uncomfortable at all moving 
this piece forward.  
 
Madam Chair Lee: Any further discussion by the committee on SB 2231? 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE TAKEN 
6 YEA, 0 NAY, 0 ABSENT  
MOTION CARRIES DO PASS 
Senator Anderson will carry SB 2231 to the floor.  
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to pharmacists limited prescriptive practices 
 

Minutes:                                                 1,2,3,4 

 
Chairman Weisz: Opened the hearing on SB 2231.  
 
Sen.  Nicole Poolman:  Introduced SB 2231.  (Attachment #1). She read her testimony.  
 
Rep. Skroch: Would this create a situation where a conglomerate type pharmacy would be 
able to provide that kind of services than a private owned small town pharmacists? 
 
Sen. Poolman: I don’t believe that that is how this would work. This is between one 
pharmacist and one physician. I don’t think there would be any conglomerates involved. 
 
Mike Schwab, Executive Vice President of the North Dakota Pharmacists Association: 
(Attachment #2).  This bill would further expand the prescriptive practices act which allows 
pharmacists and physicians or advanced nurse practitioners to enter into collaborative 
practice agreements.  This does not give pharmacists the authority to prescribe independent 
of physicians or advanced nurse practitioners. 
 

Rep. Dobervich:  Is there anything in there that defines what types of testing or types of 
services pharmacists are able to do in collaboration? It looks like every state has something 
different, is there any blueprint to go by?  
 
Mike Schwab:  Yes, under the scope of practice of pharmacists there are some exempt tests 
and a number of things fall under that.  
 
Rep. Dobervich: I would be interested in what of those are? 
 
Mike Schwab: Some of those would include rapid strep, rapid flu, and immunizations. 
 
Rep. Anderson: A group of seniors went drug shopping and showed me receipts that drugs 
are half price at some of the pharmacies compared to others. If you have an agreement 
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between the physician and pharmacy how are the seniors going to get the best benefit? They 
were upset about this.    
 
Mike Schwab:  The patient still has the choice to go to any provider of their choosing. If the 
pharmacy provides that service they are seeking, the patient does have the ability to go the 
pharmacy of their choice, unless their insurance prohibits them from doing so.  
 
Rep. Anderson: So the physician has a choice of pharmacy’s they can go to? Or would they 
have a short list?  
 
Mike Schwab: When the physician provides the prescription they ask the patient their choice 
and preference of where their pharmacy would like be. So the patient has the ability to go to 
any pharmacy they would like. 
 
Rep. Anderson: They can work with numerous pharmacies of their choice?  
 
Mike Schwab: Correct.  
 
Rep. Anderson: The physician would have an agreement with all the pharmacies?  
 
Mike Schwab: My understanding is the physician gives the patient the choice. The only 
exceptions are if insurance companies require them to get their prescriptions at a certain 
place.  
 
Rep. Schneider: I haven’t seen one of these agreements before and I am wondering is there 
compensations between pharmacy and physician? If so are there guidelines or standards 
that address what that can be?  
 
Mike Schwab:  As far as the compensation there are some services that have compensation 
for the pharmacists such as immunizations or other vaccinations. There wouldn’t be any 
compensations except for rapid strep or rapid flu. What we are seeing is insurance is not 
covering some of the services provided by the pharmacist, we are hoping that can change.   
Typically, what you see with the pharmacists is the compensation is lower than a physician 
reimbursement model. Under immunizations pharmacists are paid 85% of the physician fee 
schedule.  
 
Rep. Schneider: Can you clarify is there any compensation as part of the agreement 
between doctor and pharmacists? 
 
Mike Schwab:  To my knowledge I don’t know of any collaborative practice agreements that 
exists.  
 
Rep. Tveit: Is it common practice for a physician to always let patients know they can get 
their prescriptions where they wish? Or is it forgotten at times? 
 
Mike Schwab:  If they are following current law in terms of patient choice, it does allow the 
patient to use the pharmacy of their choice. 
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Rep. Westlind: It says they would have access to all medical records of the patient they are 
seeing and they would be able to make entries into that? Would they have access to the 
complete medical records or be able to chart they diagnosed strep throat and was giving 
them an antibiotic for it? 
 
Mike Schwab: North Dakota health information network the pharmacist is only allowed a 
certain level of access to see labs and health history. They are not allowed to see all the 
information. 
 
Rep. Westlind: This is in law that they can only see so much of that? Or would the 
pharmacists and the physician have to put that in their agreement?    
 
Mike Schwab:  Depending on what the agreement is like and depending on where the 
physician and pharmacists would be established it could be outlined in the collaborative 
practice agreement.  
 
Rep. Porter If I go to the pharmacy with a sore throat you can do a rapid strep test on me?  
How do I get the prescription for the antibiotic if I come back positive? Do I ever see a nurse 
practitioner or the physician in this process? How does my insurance company pay for my 
prescription without it running through the physician? 
 
Mike Schwab: I would prefer that our Pharmacist that is here today address that through the 
practice perspective. My understanding when someone comes in it depends on what has 
been established with that physician that would outline exactly what the physician’s 
preference would be and how the patient is handled at that time.  Yes, a pharmacist may 
prescribe an antibiotic and fill it. 
 
Rep. Porter Would the insurance company honor the issuance of medication even if the 
rapid test is not covered and without seeing a prescriber? 
 
Mike Schwab:  In some situations correct.  
 
Rep. Porter: In the collaborative agreement I can go through everything and never see a 
physician? I can do a rapid strep, rapid flu and get prescription walk out and never see a 
practitioner with the prescriptive authority?  And you are doing this is all under a standing 
order protocol?  
 
Mike Schwab:  Correct, there is a standing order through the Department of Health. It does 
have to be documented in the patients records as soon as services are provided.  
 
Rep. Porter If I come to you with no doctor, you have a standing order and protocol 
established with a doctor, am I able to be seen, tested and prescribed even though I don’t 
have a medical chart in your system? 
 
Mike Schwab:  You couldn’t receive services if we don’t have access to a patient’s medical 
record.  
 



House Human Services Committee  
SB 2231 
3/13/19 
Page 4  
   

Rep. Westlind: How did this all come about? Was it the pharmacists that wanted this or the 
physicians that are overloaded?  
 
Mike Schwab: The collaborative practice has been around a while, actually in North Dakota 
since the 90’s. But we are seeing a lot of transformation in other states, a couple of things 
we run into is it becomes a long process. You can go 9-12 months for a collaborative practice 
agreement to get approved with the current process.  
 
Rep. Skroch: The description says the pharmacist would be permitted to initiate and modify, 
in that framework do you have to be in contact with the patient’s physician when you are 
making the decisions to up or go down the dosages or discontinue an antibiotic, for example? 
 
Mike Schwab:  It has to be reported to the patient’s medical record upon services.  
 
Rep. Skroch: Could this be an advantage for a large pharmacy versus how it would impact 
a smaller pharmacy which may not be able to provide all the testing?  
 
Mike Schwab: This may vary in all communities; in rural areas this may help where there 
are provider shortages.  
 
Rep. Tveit:  Page 1, Line 17 would this be an ongoing agreement once it is made?   
 
Mike Schwab: It doesn’t have to be reviewed every four years, that is taken out. But it says 
after that, “if the scope of the agreement is modified”. It had to be reviewed every four years 
whether it was modified or not.   
 
Rep. Tveit:   Once this agreement is reached between the pharmacists and provider there 
is no updating unless there is a change on it? We are eliminating any board action at this 
point?  
 
Mike Schwab:  We are trying to remove the restrictive requirement of having both boards 
approve the private practice agreements. The are available for review at any time and if there 
is anything that falls outside of the scope of the physician or pharmacist you would want the 
boards to take action. It comes down to trusting the providers work in the scope of their 
practices. 
 
Mark Hardy, Executive Director of North Dakota State Board of Pharmacy: (27:20-
30:37)   He read his testimony. What we see between health care professionals the desire 
to work more collaboratively on different care models.  
 
Chairman Weisz: These agreements could be very limited if the pharmacist agrees to 
something with the local provider, that would be the only thing they would be responsible for? 
It could be a narrow agreement or broad?  
 
Mark Hardy:  We have seen a lot of collaborative practice agreements. But the one that they 
had at the Veterans Home in Lisbon where the pharmacist had a collaborative practice 
agreement with the physician, who was the medical director of the facility. That was a broad 
agreement which gave the pharmacist wide latitude to do different therapies. It can be that 
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model with a wide encompass but a lot are streamed lined. If a patient gets prescribed 
something and it’s not covered under their formulary insurance, then the pharmacist can 
interchange the drug for something else. So instead of instead of going through a practitioner 
and burden the health care system they are able to modify therapy. There is a lot of stream 
line approaches that private practice can function in to help the health care system work a 
lot better.   
 
Jesse Rue, Pharmacist with North Dakota Pharmacy Services Corp.: (0:33:19-36:05).   
(Attachment #4).  
 
Rep. Rohr:  With the collaborative agreement once you have one with a physician how long 
are these effective?  
 
Jesse Rue: In the current law it has to be reviewed and renewed every four years.  We have 
removed that language unless there has been any change to the agreement and who is 
involved, then it needs to be looked at. There is no requirement to review and renew every 
four years.  
 
Rep. Rohr:  Would you need one for each profession, a nurse, a doctor or could you put 
them together? 
 
Jesse Rue: The majority of these are between one physician and one pharmacist, or 
between one NP and one pharmacists.  A medical director can join into an agreement with a 
pharmacist in charge. 
 
Chairman Weisz: Closed the hearing on SB 2231.  
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Relating to pharmacists limited prescriptive practices. 
 

Minutes:                                                  

 
Chairman Weisz: Opened the hearing on SB 2231.  
 
Rep. Dobervich:  I move a Do Pass on SB 2231.  
 
Rep. M. Ruby:  Seconded. 
 
Chairman Weisz:  Any further discussion?   
 
Rep. Porter:  I am okay with this but I think there is a component missing which is the 
reimbursement component.  Whatever is established inside of those protocols suddenly 
becomes the responsibility of the patient where if they would have gone to the actual 
Physician or Nurse Practitioners office then their insurance coverage would have covered it.  
Now they are fast tracked to this other mode and it is all private pay out of pocket. I wish 
there was something in here that told them that they had to inform the patient that it is possible 
and that this isn’t covered under your insurance or that there is a methodology of checking 
their insurance.  So that they knew.  By the time the test is done and the insurance rejects it, 
it will be too late.  They need to make sure they are informing the patient whether or not what 
they are doing is covered by the patient’s insurance. 
 
Rep. Skroch:  Would they be required to inform the patient before the test that it is not 
covered by the insurance?  So that the patient is informed. 
 
Chairman Weisz:  I don’t think so because they don’t really know at the time. 
 
Mark Hardy, Executive Director of North Dakota State Board of Pharmacy:   When you 
look at models across the states and how some of that works it is very well indicated that it 
is going to be a cash paying visit that you are having.  In different models across the state it 
is pretty clearly indicated that there isn’t going to be payment for that or not insurance 
payment.  Traditionally, how it is set up it is a lot less than if you have a doctor’s visit.  They 
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tend to be very comparable.  I think it is very important that the patient knows it is not a 
covered expense.  Should it be a covered expense?  We all hope in the future time it would 
be because it certainly is a medical service.  We do have a breakdown for pharmacists of fee 
for products and hopefully over time it may change.  
 
Rep. Skroch:  Can this be utilized as copays go up so the patient avoids having to go to the 
clinic at all and then all they have to do is pay for the prescription and they avoid having to 
pay the copay which isn’t covered by insurance anyway? 
 
Mark Hardy:  That is up to the free market to decide.  How the pharmacist is going to market 
that service and what they feel is appropriate.  Also where the patient wants to get their care 
from.  Throughout the healthcare system you see a lot of different innovative models of care.  
 
Chairman Weisz:   Any further discussion?  Seeing none the clerk will call the roll for a Do 
Pass on SB 2231. 
 
Roll call vote:  Yes:  12       No:    2     Absent:  0.    Motion carries. 
 
Rep. Dobervich:  Will carry the bill.  
 
Hearing closed.  
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